COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND FILED

APPELLANT

VERSUS

APR 0 4 2007

NO. 2006-KA-01573

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND

BY:

MOSE LEE SUDDUTH,

OF COUNSEL:

MOSE LEE SUDDUTH, JR.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
410 MAIN STREET
COLUMBUS, MISSISSIPPI 397

OFFICE: (662) 327-0939 FAX: (662) 328-3020

STATE BAR NUMBER: #

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

COMES NOW the Appellant, JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND, by and through counsel, and files this, his Statement of Issues, respectfully showing as follows:

ISSUE NUMBER ONE:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO STRIKE BLACK JURORS OFF THE VENIRE PANEL WITHOUT VALID RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS.

ISSUE NUMBER TWO:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR THEFT OF PROPERTY TO BE USED BY THE STATE FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES.

ISSUE NUMBER THREE:

THAT APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION D-2 SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND, APPELLANT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL:

MOSE LEE SUDDUTH, JR.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
410 MAIN STREET
COLUMBUS, MISSISSIPPI 39701
OFFICE: (662) 327-0939
FAX: (662) 328-3020
STATE BAR NUMBER: #8039

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND, the Appellant herein and referred hereafter as "Strickland", was arrested and charged for the offense of Armed Robbery on the $10^{\rm th}$ day of May, 2000 in Lowndes County, Mississippi.

He was subsequently indicted on said charge by the Grand Jury of Lowndes County, Mississippi for the aforementioned charge on August 18, 2000. (C.P. Page 27)

Strickland was tried on August 28-29, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi and the jury found Strickland quilty of the crime of Armed Robbery. (R. Pages 231)

Strickland was sentenced on August 29, 2005 and was given 30 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections as a habitual offender. (R. Pages 258-260)

Strickland filed his Motion for JNOV or in the Alternative a New Trial on August 31, 2006 and the lower court denied Strickland's Motion for JNOV or in the Alternative a New Trial on August 31, 2006. (C.P. Pages 142-144)

Strickland requested a bail hearing that was set on September 1, 2006 (C. P. Page 145) and denied by the lower court on November 7, 2006.

Strickland filed and perfected his appeal to this Court on September 15, 2006.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial his trial, James Michael Strickland, hereinafter referred to as "Strickland", objected when seven of the eleven of the State's peremptory strikes were against members of the black race. Strickland moved for a <u>Batson</u> Hearing because of these strikes, however the lower court held that there was not sufficient evidence to show that the State was exercising its peremptory challenges in a racial manner. Strickland made a continuing objection. (R. Pages 67-69)

On May 10, 2000, in Lowndes County, Mississippi, Amy Wright, hereinafter referred to as "Wright" was working as a night clerk at Penny Ridge Grocery. The store was owned by Cecil McGahey. (R. Page 83)

A small silver car pulled up with five people in it, three men and two women. Two of the men entered the store and went to the beer cooler. (R. Page 85) Wright identified Strickland as one of the two men. (R. Page 87)

Wright asked for I.D. of both men when they attempted to purchase beer. (R. Page 90) Wright testified that Strickland picked up her purse and held it and said that she would give them the beer now. The younger man slapped Wright and pulled a gun on her. (R. Page 92)

The younger man began to beat on the cash register while he continued to point the gun at Wright. (R. Page 93)

Wright alleged that Strickland told the gun man to "just shoot the bitch", and Wright claimed he told the gun man to do this approximately six times. (R. Page 95)

The men left with the cash register, one six pack of beer and Wright's purse. (R. Page 97)

On cross-examination Wright admitted that she would not talk to Strickland's Attorney because she did not want to help Strickland in any way and that she was very emotionally tied to this case. (R. Page 102)

That the two men appeared not to have "slept in days" and that Strickland, other than hold her purse while she was trying to get it back, never physically touched Wright. (R. Page 105) Both men left the store together.

Donnie Elkin, a Columbus City Police man testified that he received a 911 notification of the robbery at Penny Ridge and the car description. (R. Page 117) He saw such a car and turn around to check it out and as he pursued the car in question he saw a cash register tossed out. (R. Page 119)

The police stopped the car after a chase, (R. Page 124) and Strickland was in the car when it was stopped. (R. Page 129)

Rhonda Sanders, a city of Columbus Police Officer testified that she was the one who located the cash register. (R. Page 130)

Harold Pounders, a private citizen saw what later was determined to be a holster for a small pistol, thrown from the car. (R. Page 137)

Kevin Petrie, a Lowndes County Sheriff Department Investigator testified that he recovered from the car a six-pack of beer and personal items that were Wright's. (R. Page 141)

The State rested its case in chief and Strickland made a Motion for a Directed Verdict, which was denied by the lower court. (R. Pages 149-150)

A Peterson Hearing was held by the lower court which allowed, over objection, a prior conviction of Strickland that was over ten years prior to his trial in the lower court in the case sub judice.

Strickland testified in his defense that he was with four other individuals on the day in question and that they had gone to Penny Ridge Grocery. (R. Page 175)

His brother had given Jonathan Burnett a small .22 caliber pistol that was not loaded. (R. Page 176)

They had gone to Penny Ridge to purchase some beer and Strickland and Burnett went into the store. (R. Pages 177-179)

Strickland and Wright argued over I.D. to purchase the beer and Burnett reached across and slapped Wright and pulled the gun and that Strickland had no idea what Burnett was going to do. (R. Pages 180-181)

Strickland admitted that he had grabbed Wright's purse and that he took it when they left, and that he was in the rear passenger area of the vehicle. (R. Page 182)

On Cross-Examination Strickland testified that he had given a different version of what happened to the police so that they would

give him a bond. (R. Page 183)

Strickland denied telling Burnett to shoot Wright and that he had told Burnett to put the gun away. (R. Pages 186-187)

Strickland told Burnett to bring the cash register so that they could leave. (R. Page 188) Strickland admitted that he had been in trouble before and was freaked out by Burnett's actions and just wanted to leave. (R. Page 190)

On Re-Direct Examination Strickland testified that he had no control over the other four persons in the car and that he did not intend to rob anyone and that he was "scared to death" of what was happening. (R. Pages 196)

Strickland admitted that he had been drinking all day that day and that he had not directed any obscenity toward Wright. (R. Page 198)

Strickland rested his case. (R. Page 200)

The State rested it's case finally. (R. Page 200)

The lower court refused Strickland's Instruction D-2 over his objection which provided a lesser charge of robbery for the jury to consider. (R. Pages 200-207)

The jury convicted Strickland on the charge of Armed Robbery, (R. Page 231) but failed to unanimously agree on a life sentence. (R. Page 253)

On August 29, 2006 the lower court sentenced Strickland to thirty (30) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (R. Pages 258)

Strickland's motion for new trial or in the alterative a JNOV was denied and he has appealed claiming serious and fatal errors committed by the lower court that requires reversal of his conviction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE NUMBER ONE:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO STRIKE BLACK JURORS OFF THE VENIRE PANEL WITHOUT VALID RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS.

Strickland bases his argument here on the fact that the State struck seven black venire panel members without valid race-neutral reasons and the lower court failed to make independent inquiry into the reasons for the State strikes.

ISSUE NUMBER TWO:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR THEFT OF PROPERTY TO BE USED BY THE STATE FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES.

Strickland bases his argument here on the fact that his prior conviction was over fifteen years old and therefore was outside the statutory time limit of ten years and that the lower court failed to properly apply the 5 Peterson Factors and the admission of Strickland's prior conviction probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

ISSUE NUMBER THREE:

THAT APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION D-2 SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN.

Strickland bases his argument here on fact that the denial of his Instruction D-2 denied him a fair trial. That the facts in his

case merited the granting of D-2, which was a lesser included offense instruction, in that there was evidentiary proof in support thereof and that applicable Mississippi law provided sufficient support for the granting of a lesser included offense instruction in the case sub judice. That even if the aforementioned did not apply, that the Doctrine of Lesser non-included Offenses applied, whereby due to the vast disparity in maximum sentences Strickland was entitled to present the jury a less severe sentence option.

ARGUMENT:

ISSUE NUMBER ONE:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO STRIKE BLACK JURORS OFF THE VENIRE PANEL WITHOUT VALID RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS.

In the instant case the State, using eleven strikes, struck seven black venire panel members on the venire list, the Appellant objected and the lower court ruled that there was not sufficient evidence to show that the State was exercising its peremptory challenges in a racial manner. (R. Pages 67-69) The lower court did not even require the State to provide any "race-neutral" reasons for these seven strikes.

Strickland respectfully submits that the State must give "race-neutral" reasons that are sufficient to meet the requirements of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986) and the State's actions were meant merely to remove blacks from the jury pool and not for legitimate reasons.

In <u>Batson</u> the United States Supreme Court articulated the elements necessary to establish a prima facie case of purposeful racial discrimination in the use of peremptory strikes utilized during jury selection. A defendant must show must show:

- 1. That he is a member of a "cognizable racial group";
- 2. That the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges toward the elimination of veniremen of his race, and
 - 3. That facts and circumstances infer that the prosecutor

used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities.

Appellant respectfully submits that at his trial he had shown that a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination existed, specifically, that the State used peremptory challenges on black jurors in such a manner that gave rise to an inference of purposeful racial discrimination, meeting the second and third elements of <u>Batson</u> and the first element has been eliminated by the Unites States Supreme Court in the case of <u>Powers v. Ohio</u>, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991) where the Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant may object to racial exclusions of jurors by peremptory challenges whether or not the defendant and the excluded jurors are of the same race.

Having met his initial huddle the lower court was mandated to direct the State to provide "race-neutral" reasons for it's strikes, however the lower court failed to follow this mandate.

As required by our law the lower court was under an affirmative duty to "...make an on-the-record, factual determination, of the merits of the reasons cited by the State for its use of peremptory challenges against potential jurors." <u>Hatten v. State</u>, 628 So.2d 294, 298 (Miss.1993), in the instant case that was not done.

In <u>Puckett v. State</u>, (Miss. 1999) 1999 WL 161310, (Miss. 1999) citing <u>Hatten</u> this Court stated:

"...although the trial judge then ruled on each challenged juror, the trial judge did not make an on-the-record factual determination as to his ruling or independent inquiry concerning each juror as required by <u>Hatten v. State</u>, 628 So.2d 294 (Miss.1993).

Respectfully the lower court did not follow the dictates of this Court and failed to follow the proper procedures to insure the State was fairly presenting "race-neutral" reasons for striking the aforementioned jurors.

Appellant respectfully submits, based on the aforementioned law that the lower court in the instant case committed reversible error in allowing the State to improperly strike Black venire members without being directed to provide proper race-neutral reasons.

Strickland was not entitled to a perfect trial, but he was entitled to a fair one which include's having a jury of his peers and not one where the State was allowed to strike potential jurors merely because of the color of their skin and by being denied such he is now entitled to have his conviction reversed.

ISSUE NUMBER TWO:

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR THEFT OF PROPERTY TO BE USED BY THE STATE FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES.

Impeachment of a witness in the State of Mississippi is controlled by Rule 609 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence which states in part:

609 IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF CONVICTION OF CRIME

- (a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, (1) evidence that (A) a nonparty witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and (B) a party has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the party; and (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.
- (b) Time Limit. Evidence of a conviction under this rule is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, Whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by the specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.

In the instant case the State sought permission of the lower court to use Appellant's March 12, 1993 conviction for theft of property, 2nd Degree, for impeachment purposes, to which Strickland objected citing that said conviction was over ten years old,

however the lower court allowed said conviction in even though Strickland had served only one year and had been released. (R. Pages 152-62, R.E. Pages 20-30)

Under Rule 609(a) crimes are divided into two types: felony-grade convictions, which may be used for impeachment purposes, provided the lower court first makes an on-the-record determination using the five factors as outlined in <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 518 So.2d 632 (Miss.1987), that the probative value of the prior conviction outweighs the prejudicial effects before the witness may be impeached.

And the second type concerns crimes involving dishonesty or a false statement, whether felonies or misdemeanors.

"The phrase "dishonesty or false statement" in 609(a)(2) means crimes such as perjury or subornation of perjury, false statement, fraud, embezzlement, false pretense, or any other offense in the nature of <u>crimen falsi</u>, the commission of which involves some element of deceit, untruthfulness, or falsification bearing on the accused's propensity to testify truthfully." (Comment Rule 609) (R. Page 239, R.E. Page 30)

Felony theft is not a crime "involving dishonesty or false statement." <u>Coursey v. Broadhurst</u>, 888 F.2d 338, 342 (5th Cir.1989). This Court in <u>Blackman v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 583, (Miss. 1995) adopted this holding, stating:

"While there is a split of authority on the question whether theft crimes such as larceny and shoplifting should be categorized as <u>crimen falsi</u>,

historically they have not been and this Court has adopted the majority view that they are not." (At Page 585)

Since Strickland's theft conviction could not come in "automatically" under Rule 609 (a)(2) as a <u>crimen falsi</u> type crime the time limit of ten years as provided under Rule 609 (b) was in effect. The State recognized that Strickland's theft conviction and service of sentence was outside the ten year limit, and that while the State had no case authority for allowing this conviction in, the lower court still allowed the conviction in for impeachment purposes.

The lower court based it decision to allow the conviction in on the sentence, not the conviction date or the release from confinement, which was only a year. (R. Pages 152-62, R.E. Pages 20-30) The lower court had to make a on the record determination of admissibility under Rule 609 (a)(1) as required by <u>Peterson</u>.

However, the State first has a threshold burden of establishing prima facie that the prior conviction has probative value. Johnson v. Fargo, 604 So.2d 306 (Miss.1992)

The balancing test of Rule 609(a)(1), as elaborated upon in Peterson, involves the consideration of factors which originated in a federal case, <u>Gordon v. United States</u>, 383 F.2d 936 (D.C.Cir.1967)

The five <u>Peterson</u> factors are as follows:

- (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime.
- (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness' subsequent history.

- (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.
- (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony.
- (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

An on-the-record determination, applying these five factors is required of a 609 (a)(1) type crime. There must be a showing that the probative value of the prior conviction outweighs the prejudicial effects in order to properly admit evidence of the conviction.

In the instant case the lower court held that Strickland's prior conviction would be used for impeachment purposes stating:

"I have, in fact, gone over the Peterson factors; that is, the impeachment value of the prior crime, the point in time between the conviction and his subsequent history, the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime, the importance of his testimony, and the centrality of the credibility issue. I find that all of these factors weigh in favor of allowing impeachment with this particular crime and not the other two, which has been marked as State's Exhibit A and State's Exhibit B. Your eloquent argument on B to the contrary." (R. Page 161, R.E. Page 29)

Respectfully Appellant would submit that the lower court evaluation process of the five <u>Peterson</u> factors to the facts of the instant case were in error. Reviewing each factor in turn it is obvious that allowing the State to impeach with Strickland's prior theft conviction was error.

I. The impeachment value of the prior crime.

At trial Appellant was being tried for the crime of armed

robbery, the impeaching crime was theft. This crime has little, if any, impeachment value. Accordingly this factor weighs against the admissibility of the conviction.

II. The point in time of the conviction and the witness' subsequent history.

At trial the lower court allowed this conviction even though it occurred well out of the ten year limit as specified in Rule 609. The offense had occurred over 13 years prior to the trial in the instant case. This was not a "fresh" crime. Accordingly, this factor weighs against the admissibility of the conviction.

III. The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.

There is none, so this factor weighs in favor of admissibility of the conviction.

IV. The importance of the defendant's testimony.

Strickland was the only witness in his defense. Rule 609(a)(1) aids in the search for truth by insuring that important testimony from defendants on trial will not be excluded because they fear the prejudicial effect that a previous conviction might have on the jury. The importance of Strickland's testimony weighs against the admissibility of the conviction.

V. The centrality of the credibility issue.

Since Appellant's defense either stands or falls based on his credibility, the evidence which bears on his credibility is of the utmost importance. The nature of Stricklan's defense heightens the importance of his credibility since in this case, he is the

only witness who can establish his defense. The importance of his credibility to the particular facts of this case weigh in favor of the admissibility of his prior conviction, but only to the extent, if any, that his prior conviction reflects adversely on his credibility, and since theft is not a crime of dishonesty, it has no reflection on his credibility.

Strickland would submit that Peterson and all subsequent cases would dictate that the prejudicial effect of allowing his impeachment with his prior conviction for theft far outweighed its probative value and "[w]here admission of evidence of a prior conviction is manifestly prejudicial, this Court will reverse and remand or remand for a finding pursuant to M.R.E. 609(a)(1) if none has been made. <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 522, 523 (Miss.1991) Respectfully, manifest prejudice occurred and demand reversal.

The State had a very strong case and this prior offense of Strickland was not necessary and in the interest of fairness the lower court should have stepped in to prevent this highly prejudicial, and not probative, conviction from being presented to the jury. Where Strickland had to admit to the conviction when he testified.

The State here is seeking only to prejudice Strickland and not engage in proper impeachment. This conduct is improper and demands reversal.

ISSUE NUMBER THREE:

THAT APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION D-2 SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN.

Strickland submits that his jury instruction D-2 should have been given and the refusal to do so by the lower court denied the jury proper legal instruction.

Instruction Defendants D-2 reads as follows:

"THE COURT INSTRUCTS THE JURY that if you find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant, JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND, did not commit the crime of armed robbery on May 10, 2000 at the Penny Ridge Grocery, but instead you find beyond a reasonable doubt that he did feloniously take the personal property of Amy Wright, to-wit her purse, in her presence and off her person and against her will, by violence to her person or by putting her in fear of some immediate injury to her person, you shall find him guilty of the lesser included offense of robbery.

(C.P. Page 122) (R.E. Page 31)

In <u>Howell v. State</u>, 860.2d 704 (Miss.2003) the Mississippi Supreme Court set the standard of review for the granting or denial of jury instruction, stating:

"[T]he instructions are to be read together as a whole, with no one instruction to be read alone or taken out of context. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case." (At page 761)

Here the lower court denied Strickland's instruction that represented a major part of his defense, a defense that consisted of his involvement in the alleged armed robbery was at worse robbery when he took Wright's purse from the scene and that he had no direct involvement in the actions of Burnett who committed the

armed robbery without Strickland's help or consent.

Strickland has a threshold question that must be addressed and answered. In <u>Davis v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 643 (Miss.1996) the following rule was established:

"If a 'rational' or a reasonable jury could find [the defendant] not guilty of the principal offense charged in the indictment yet guilty of the lesser-included offense,' then the lesser included offense instruction should be granted. A lesser included offense instruction is warranted only where there is an evidentiary basis for it." (At Pages 656-657)

In the case sub judice, Strickland was a spectator to Burnett's armed robbery and his only crime was to take Wright's purse by use of physical force while the armed robbery was occurring, which constitutes robbery.

Obviously, to be granted a lesser included offense instruction there must be a lesser included offense to the main charged crime. In <u>Sanders V. State</u>, 479 So.2d 1097 (Miss.1985), the Mississippi Supreme Court created the test to establish whether one crime was a lesser included crime of another:

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