IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND

FILED

APPELLANT

JUN 2 9 2007

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1573

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

No error has been shown in the trial court's determination that the defense failed to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in the prosecution's exercise of its peremptory challenges to the veniremen. Strickland's first proposition lacks merit.

Furthermore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the state to impeach Strickland with evidence of a prior conviction. Strickland's second issue has no merit.

Finally, the court did not err in refusing the lesser-included offense instruction, which had no basis in the evidence. Strickland's third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION ONE:

NO ERROR HAS BEEN SHOWN IN THE COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE DEFENSE FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMINATION IN THE PROSECUTION'S EXERCISE OF ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

After the parties had exercised their peremptory challenges to the jury panel, defense counsel moved the court "to have a Batson based on those six jurors." A brief discussion ensued. The prosecutor then stated, "[t]here were 11 strikes if I'm not mistaken

exercised by the State. Four of them were exercised on members of the white race. Seven of them were exercised on members of the black race." (T.68-69) The court then made this ruling:

Court is of the opinion that that is not sufficient to show that the State in exercising its peremptory challenges has exercised the peremptories in a racial manner.

The Court finds that the defendant has not made a prima facie case that the State has exercised its peremptory challenges in a racial manner to exclude members of any particular class.

(T.69)

At the outset, the state submits the court's ruling is to be afforded great deference. *Smith v. State*, 835 So.2d 927, 941 (Miss.2002). Indeed, it is presumed to be correct and will not be reversed absent a showing that it is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or clearly erroneous. *Chandler v. State*, ___ So.2d ___ (Miss. App., decided October 24, 2006) (2006 WL 3008140); *Johnson v. State*, 721 So.2d 650, 655 (Miss. App.1998).

Strickland has not attempted to show error in the court's finding that the defense, as the party challenging the strikes, had failed to sustain its burden of establishing a *prima facie* case of purposeful discrimination. See *Carter v. State*, 799 So.2d 40, 46 (Miss.2001). Rather, the essence of his argument is that the court the court erred in failing to require the state to articulate racially neutral reasons for its strikes against black veniremen. This point begs the question inasmuch it is the establishment of a *prima facie* case which triggers the requirement of such articulation. *Carter*, 799 So.2d at 46.

Strickland plainly has failed to sustain his burden of showing that the trial court's ruling on this issue was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or clearly erroneous. Accordingly, his first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO IMPEACH STRICKLAND WITH EVIDENCE OF A PRIOR CONVICTION

Proceeding pursuant to M.R.E. 609,1 the state sought to impeach Strickland with

¹That rule is set out in pertinent part below:

RULE 609. IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF CONVICTION OF CRIME

- (a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,(1) evidence that (A) a nonparty witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and (B) a party has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the party; and(2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of punishment.
- (b) Time Limit. Evidence of a conviction under this rule is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by the specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. ...

evidence that he had been convicted on March 5, 1993, of theft, and sentenced to serve a term of 15 years in the custody of the Alabama Department of Corrections. (T.152)_ The defense objected on the ground that this conviction was more than ten years old. (T.154) In response, the state pointed out that the defendant could have been brought to trial well within this ten-year limit had he not "failed to show up for Court." (T.155-56)

The prosecutor went on to argue that analysis of the Peterson factors3 favored

²The prosecutor elaborated,

[I]t seems to be a bit of an injustice that the defendant can fail to show up, run, hide out until the period of time in which his ten-year time limit has expired, and then show up finally when he's apprehended and say State can't use these convictions because it's longer than ten years.

(T.156)

³Those factors are set out below:

- (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime.
- (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history.
- (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.
- (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony.
- (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

Peterson v. State, 518 So.2d 632, 636 (Miss.1987), cited in Adams v. State, 772 So.2d 1010, 1022 (Miss.2000).

admissibility of the conviction:

It is a theft of property, which I assume we would call a larceny, which the impeachment value for that crime is high. The defendant's conduct since that particular case happened in 1993 has been poor. He has been indicted for armed robbery, skipped bond, been on the run until he was apprehended I believe sometime in 2003. The impeachment value is high. The centrality of his testimony should be elect to testify is very high as well. Right now it's undisputed evidence that he was an aider and an abettor to an armed robbery. And essentially it's going to be a believability contest should he elect to testify between this defendant and Ms. Amy Wright. Therefore, his credibility is directly at issue.

I believe when the Peterson factors are weighed, the probative value of allowing this particular conviction in outweighs any prejudicial effect of the defendant. ... (T.157)

Ultimately, the court made these findings and conclusions:

I have, in fact, gone over the Peterson factors; that is, the impeachment value of the prior crime, the point in time between the past crime and the charged crime, the importance of his testimony, and the centrality of the credibility issue. I find that all of these factors weigh in favor of allowing impeachment with this particular crime ...

Having found that the State will be allowed to impeach him by the prior conviction in exhibit C for ID, I must now consider whether Rule 403 comes into play. Rule 403 is the balancing of relevant evidence on the grounds of prejudice, confusion, or waste of time. Rule 403 states: Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

The Court finds that it is relevant and will not be excluded because I do find that the probative value is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

(emphasis added) (T.161-62)

The trial court carefully analyzed each *Peterson* factor and concluded that all of the factors weighed in favor of allowing impeachment with this conviction. The court went on to find that pursuant to M.R.E. 403 These findings are supported by the record. Strickland has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting this conviction. See *Henderson v. State*, 641 So.2d 1184, 1186 (Miss.1994), cited in *Adams*, 772 So.2d at 1022. Accordingly, Strickland's second proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION THREE:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING INSTRUCTION D-2

Strickland argues finally that the trial court erred in refusing Instruction D-2, set out below:

THE COURT INSTRUCTS THE JURY that if you find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant, JAMES MICHAEL STRICKLAND, did not commit the crime of armed robbery on May 10, 2000 at the Penny Ridge Grocery, but instead you find beyond a reasonable doubt that he did feloniously take the personal property of Amy Wright, to-wit her purse, in her presence and off her person and against her will, by violence to her person or by putting her in fear of some immediate injury to her person, you shall find him guilty of the lesser included offense of robbery.

(C.P.122)

When this instruction was tendered, the prosecution objected, stating its position as follows:

I don't believe there's any basis in the evidence. The undisputed testimony is that there was a gun that was used, and that there was property that was taken after the display of that weapon. I believe there's no basis in the evidence.

May I point out, Your Honor, that he is not charged in

this indictment with taking her purse. The robbery of the purse as I see it as set forth in this instruction is not necessarily a lesser included offense. It is a separate crime. He's charged in the indictment from taking a cash register containing money and beer. He's not charged with taking her purse by putting her in fear of some immediate injury. But, even if it is a lesser included offense, I would object very strongly to the lesser included offense being given—instruction being given. I believe there's no basis in the evidence. It is undisputed from Ms. Wright and from this defendant that there was a weapon that was displayed; that after the display of that weapon, the cash register containing money and beer were taken.

(emphasis added) (T.204-05)

The court found that the defendant had admitted that a gun was used in the robbery. The court went on to state, "If a defendant participated in any regard even in the aspiration of the property, it would be armed robbery and cannot be robbery." (T.205) Finally, the court issued this conclusion and ruling:

The taking of this purse and the cash register occurred after the display of the weapon, after this defendant testified that he had seen the weapon and saw that it was drawn by his confederate. He testifies that prior to that, that he had no knowledge that the man was going to pull a weapon and use it for a robbery. However, by his own testimony, he joined it once it was.

I agree with the State. S-2 [sic] is refused. There is no evidence in the record that will justify the granting of a lesser included.

(emphasis added) (T.206-07)

"In numerous cases this Court has not hesitated to find that a lesser included instruction was not required where the instruction was not supported by the evidence. ... Such instructions should not be granted indiscriminately." Wilson v. State, 639 So.2d 1326, 1329 (Miss.1994). The defendant is not entitled to a lesser-included offense

instruction unless there is an evidentiary basis that would permit a rational jury to find him not guilty of the charged offense but guilty of the lesser crime. *Chandler v. State*, 946 So.2d 355, 360 (Miss.2006)

The state submits the trial court, applying the appropriate legal standard, properly analyzed this issue and determined that no evidentiary basis existed for Instruction D-2. The defendant himself testified that a gun was used in this robbery. Thus, "there was no affirmative evidence produced to even insinuate that the robber did not brandish a gun." *King v. State*, 772 So.2d 1076, 1078 (Miss. App. 2000).

"Participation in an armed robbery is sufficient to make one a principal regardless of whether the participant was the person holding the weapon." *Harrington v. State*, 859 So.2d 1054, 1057 (Miss. App. 2003), citing *Moore v. State*, 493 So.2d 1295, 1298-99 (Miss.1986). Taken in the light most favorable to the defense, the evidence shows that a deadly weapon was displayed and that the defendant participated in the robbery. As the trial court observed, Strickland's participation in this crime made him a principal, regardless of his protestation that he did not know the armed robbery was to occur. *Smothers v. State*, 761 So.2d 887, 890 (Miss. App. 2000). Accordingly, the lesser-included offense instruction was properly refused. *Harrington*, 859 So.2d at 1057; *King*, 772 So.2d at 1078.

For these reasons, Strickland's final proposition lacks merit.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the arguments presented by Strickland are without merit. Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.